
 

1 
 

MINUTES 

 

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

 

BRUNSWICK COUNTY, N.C. 
 

6:00 P.M., Thursday  

September 12, 2019  

 

 

 

Commissioners Chambers 

David R. Sandifer Administration Building 

Brunswick County Government Center 

Old Ocean Highway East, Bolivia

MEMBERS PRESENT  MEMBERS ABSENT 

Robert Williamson, Chairman  None

Mary Ann McCarthy 

Marian Shiflet 

Virginia Ward 

Alan Lewis 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

Helen Bunch, Zoning Administrator 

Bryan Batton, Assistant County Attorney 

Justin Brantley, Project Planner 

 

OTHERS PRESENT 

Grey Vick 

Patrick Newton 

Sylvain Goulet 

Jon Trainor 

William Gerber 

Marian Cionek 

Inga Alston 

Gary Brown 

Matt A. Nichols, Attorney 

Mason Anderson 

Bryan Mclaughlin 

Joan Tomasello 

Jimmy McLamb 

 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER. 

 

The Chairman called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. 

 

II. ROLL CALL. 

 

There were no members absent. 



 

2 
 

 

III. CONSIDERATION OF MINUTES OF THE AUGUST 22, 2019 MEETING. 

 

Ms. Shiflet made a motion to accept the minutes of the August 22, 2019 meeting as 

written. The motion was seconded by Ms. McCarthy and unanimously carried.  

 

IV. AGENDA AMENDMENTS. 

 

There were none. 

 

V. FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT. 

 

Ms. McCarthy explained that the Board of Adjustment is a quasi-judicial Board assigned 

the function of acting between the Zoning Administrator or Planning Director, who 

administer the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), and the courts, which would 

have the final say on any matter. The Board’s duties are to hear and decide appeals from 

and review any order, requirement, decision or determination made by the Zoning 

Administrator or Planning Director; to grant Special Use Permits and to grant Variances.  

 

Ms. McCarthy said that the public hearing is not to solicit broad public opinion about 

how the Board should vote on a matter; rather, it is a time for submittal of relevant, 

factual evidence in the record by the applicants, proponents, opponents and staff. All 

parties involved must be affirmed or sworn in as required by the North Carolina General 

Statutes. The opposing parties have the right to cross examine witnesses and file 

documents into the record.  

 

Ms. McCarthy stated that the Chairman will announce the case; the Zoning Administrator 

will submit into evidence the Staff Report; the applicant or person filing the application 

will present relevant evidence to the Board as it relates to the Approval Criteria outlined 

in Section 3.5.9.B. of the UDO; the opposition will have an opportunity to speak; and 

then the Zoning Administrator will provide recommended conditions based on the 

approval criteria and information provided during the public hearing. Once all parties 

have addressed the Board, all parties will have the opportunity for rebuttals and the 

Chairman will summarize all evidence presented. All parties will have the opportunity to 

comment on the summation given to the Board. Once the summary is accepted, the public 

hearing session will be over and the Board will discuss the matter amongst themselves 

and vote to grant or deny the Special Use Permit and/or Variance.  

 

Ms. McCarthy informed the audience that if anyone was not satisfied with the outcome of 

the Board’s decision, they may file an appeal to Superior Court. 

 

VI. SWEARING IN OF APPLICANT, WITNESS, AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES. 

 

The Chairman swore in and or/ affirmed Helen Bunch, Grey Vick, Patrick Newton, 

Sylvain Goulet, Jon Trainor, William Gerber, Marian Cionek, Inga Alston, Gary Brown, 



 

3 
 

Matthew Nichols, Mason Anderson, Brian McLaughlin, and Joan Tomasello as to their 

testimony being truthful and relevant to the respective case. 

 

 

VII. OLD BUSINESS. 

 

A) 19-06V:   Variance 

Applicant:   Grey Outdoor, LLC 

Location:  4846 Southport-Supply Road SE, Southport, NC 28461 

Tax Parcel 205PA001 

Applicant requests two (2) Variances from the Brunswick 

County Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). The first 

variance is from Section 8.8.1.G.1. to allow a non-

conforming outdoor advertising structure to be relocated 

one hundred sixty-five (165) linear feet from another 

outdoor advertising sign as opposed to the minimum three 

thousand (3,000) linear feet of separation for outdoor 

advertising structures required. The second variance is from 

Section 8.8.1.I. to allow a non-conforming outdoor 

advertising structure to be relocated five (5) feet from the 

left side property line as opposed to the minimum fifteen 

(15) feet as required. 

 

Ms. Bunch addressed the Board. Ms. Bunch read the Staff Report (attached). 

Ms. Bunch identified the subject property and surrounding properties on a 

visual map.  

 

Mr. Grey Vick addressed the Board. Mr. Vick stated Grey Outdoors, LLC is 

requesting permission to relocate the sign as a result of the road widening 

project on NC 211(Southport-Supply Road). Mr. Vick stated that the side yard 

variance is being requested to come more into compliance with the UDO by 

maximizing the distance from nearby advertising structures. 

 

Mr. Vick stated that the existing sign has a five (5) feet side yard setback 

currently and the variance would allow the relocation to maintain that 

distance. 

 

Ms. Shiflet asked Mr. Vick if he was aware of the business risk associated 

with locating advertising structures in areas that may be acquired for projects 

such as road widening projects. Mr. Vick stated that he is aware of that risk as 

being a part of the business. 

 

Ms. Ward asked how many years the sign has been at that location. Mr. Vick 

stated that the sign has been at that site since 1988. Mr. Vick added that the 

structure was acquired in 2013. Mr. Vick stated that the documentation was 



 

4 
 

provided to the Planning Department for the associated Non-Conforming Use 

Certificate. 

 

Mr. Vick stated that the quality of the new sign structure would be improved 

compared to the existing structure.  

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if the sign is currently illuminated and if the new sign 

will be illuminated. Mr. Vick stated that the sign is currently illuminated and 

will continue to be illuminated. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked if the size of the sign will be increased. Mr. Vick stated 

that the signage would remain close to the current sign. Mr. Vick added that 

there have been similar advertising structures that have been relocated nearby, 

and it is his intention is to build a sign structure that is similar in character to 

the nearby sign structures that have recently been relocated. 

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if there is a residence on the property next to where the 

sign will be relocated. Mr. Vick stated that there is a single-wide mobile home 

adjacent to the sign. Mr. Vick added that he is unaware of the property owners 

plans for the residence. Mr. Vick stated that the building in the front of the 

property was included in the acquisition and will be removed. 

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if Mr. Vick owns the entire parcel. Mr. Vick responded 

that he does not own the property, but he is leasing the property from 

Haywood Equity Group. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked Mr. Vick why he is requesting the variance for the side 

setback. Mr. Vick responded that the sign is currently setback five (5) feet.  

Mr. Vick responded that the he needs the side setback to minimize the 

noncompliance related to the spacing between outdoor advertising structures 

with the Ordinance rather than the sign being brought closer to the nearby 

advertising structures. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked what the distance to the closest sign is. Mr. Vick 

responded that the sign was 165 feet from the nearby sign. However, Mr. Vick 

added that since the nearby signs have been relocated, he is unsure of the 

exact distance. Mr. Vick stated that the distance between signs should remain 

165 feet apart. 

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if the other two signs were located on the same parcel. 

Mr. Vick responded that the other signs are located on the adjacent property to 

the right. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked if the sign will be the same height. Mr. Vick responded 

that the sign will be built around the same height. Mr. Vick added that if the 

variance was granted, he would be allowed to bring the sign to a height of 35 



 

5 
 

feet. Mr. Vick stated he would like to be consistent with the nearby signs 

which have heights of around 30 feet. Mr. Vick added that they may 

potentially pursue an increase in height to address a concern of visibility.  

 

Ms. Bunch stated that the Unified Development Ordinance sets a height limit 

on outdoor advertising signs at 35 feet. 

 

Mr. Patrick Newton testified that he owns the adjacent parcel which includes 

the two nearby outdoor advertising signs. Mr. Newton stated that he wanted to 

emphasize that the variance for the side setback would maximize the space 

between the signs. 

 

Ms. McCarthy asked Mr. Vick if the side setback request is for the side 

adjoining parcel 20500038. Mr. Vick responded that, yes, the side setback is 

being requested for that side of the property. 

 

With no further comments, the Chairman summarized that Grey Outdoor, 

LCC is being forced to remove an outdoor advertising structure do to the 

widening of Southport-Supply Road. Mr. Williamson stated that Mr. Vick is 

requesting two variances from the Brunswick County Unified Development 

Ordinance to allow him to relocate the sign. Mr. Vick has obtained a Non-

Conforming Use Certificate for the sign. Mr. Williamson added that Mr. Vick 

stated that the sign will be approximately the same size and will be 

approximately the same distance to the nearby sign structures. Mr. Vick is 

requesting a side yard variance as well as a variance to allow the sign to be 

located within 165 feet of another sign. 

 

The Chairman asked if there were any comments to the summation. There 

were none. The Board discussed the worksheet and determined the following: 

 

DECISION: Having held a public hearing to consider Case Number 19-06V, 

submitted by Gray Outdoor, LLC, a request for a variance to use the property 

located at 4846 Southport-Supply Road SE, Southport NC  28461 in a manner 

not permissible under the literal terms of the ordinance, and having heard all 

of the evidence and arguments presented at the hearing, makes the following 

FINDINGS OF FACTS and draws the following Conclusions: 

 

1. It is the Board’s CONCLUSION that, unnecessary hardship will result 

from the strict application of the ordinance.  It shall not be necessary to 

demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use can be 

made of the property.  This conclusion is based on the following 

FINDINGS of FACT: The need to relocate the sign is a result of the State 

of North Carolina’s decision to widen NC 211 (Southport-Supply Road) 

into a four-lane facility.  The sign was placed at its current location prior 

to zoning in Brunswick County. 

 



 

6 
 

2. It is the Board’s CONCLUSION that the hardship does result from 

conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as location, size, or 

topography.  Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as 

hardships resulting from conditions that are common to the neighborhood 

or the general public, may not be the basis for grant a variance.  This 

conclusion is based on the following FINDINGS OF FACT: The location 

of the current sign, in the path of the proposed NCDOT right-of-way has 

forced the relocation of the sign on the parcel. 

 

3. It is the Board’s CONCLUSION that the hardship does not result from 

actions taken by the applicant or the property owner.  The act of 

purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may 

justify the granting of a variance shall not be regarded as a self-created 

hardship.  This conclusion is based on the following FINDINGS OF 

FACT: The applicant did not choose to sell the property or move the sign.  

The decision of NCDOT to expand the right-of-way for Southport-Supply 

Road at this location caused the hardship. 

 

4. It is the Board’s CONCLUSION that the requested variance is consistent 

with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the ordinance, such that public safety 

is secured, and substantial justice is achieved.  This conclusion is based on 

the following FINDINGS OF FACT: No testimony was provided 

regarding public safety.  The applicant did not ask to have his land taken.  

The chosen location requires the least variance possible, as the sign is 

being moved back further from the existing right-of-way. 

 

THEREFORE, on the basis of all the foregoing, IT IS ORDERED that the 

application for a VARIANCE be GRANTED, with the condition that the sign 

must comply with all other components listed in the UDO related to outdoor 

advertising signs, with no exceptions, as motioned by Ms. Ward, seconded by 

Mr. Williamson and granted by a vote of 4-1 (Shiflet). 

 

B) 19-11S:   Special Use Permit 

Applicant:   Sylvain Goulet 

Location:  2558 Maco Road NE, Leland, NC 28451 

Tax Parcels 02700032 & 02700033 

Applicant requests a Special Use Permit consistent with 

Section 5.2.3. and Section 5.3.5.S. of the Unified 

Development Ordinance (UDO) to allow “Vehicle and 

Heavy Equipment Sales and Rentals”. 

   

Ms. Bunch addressed the Board. Ms. Bunch read the Staff Report (attached). 

Ms. Bunch identified the subject property and surrounding properties on a 

visual map.  

 



 

7 
 

Mr. Sylvain Goulet addressed the Board. Mr. Goulet stated that he wants to 

sell used cars on the site with his son. Mr. Goulet continued that they want to 

be able to have five to six cars at a time or whatever is allowed. Mr. Goulet 

stated that there is already a garage and office on the site. Mr. Goulet added 

that they will not be selling heavy equipment or making repairs on the site. 

Mr. Goulet stated that he intends to make the landscaping very appealing. 

 

Ms. Shiflet asked if there would be heavy equipment sales or rentals on the 

site. Mr. Goulet responded that there would not be heavy equipment sales or 

rentals. 

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if Mr. Goulet owns the property. Mr. Goulet stated that 

he owns parcel 02700032 and will be purchasing parcel 02700033 if the 

Special Use Permit is approved.  

 

Mr. Goulet stated that the site will just be used for the sale of custom used 

cars.  

 

Ms. Ward asked if he would sell 5-6 cars at a time. Mr. Goulet stated that, yes, 

they would sell 5-6 cars at a time. 

 

Ms. McCarthy asked what the proposed hours of operation are. Mr. Goulet 

responded that the business will be open from 9 a.m. to 12 p.m. and 3 p.m. to 

6 p.m. 

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if there is a home on the property and if he is living 

there. Mr. Goulet stated that he is living at the home on the property. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked Ms. Bunch to read the conditions of approval from the 

Staff Report. 

 

With no further comments, the Chairman summarized that Sylvain Goulet is 

requesting a Special Use Permit to use the site for used car sales. Mr. 

Williamson added that the applicant does not intend to use the site for repairs. 

Mr. Williamson stated that the applicant will use the site to sell five to six cars 

at a time. Mr. Williamson stated that the applicant is aware of the conditions 

and has agreed to them if the Special Use Permit is approved. 

 

The Chairman asked if there were any comments to the summation. There 

were none. The Board discussed the worksheet and determined the following: 

 

DECISION: Having heard all of the evidence and arguments presented at the 

hearing, the Board of Adjustment, at its meeting on September 12, 2019, finds 

and determines that the application is complete, and subject to the conditions 

imposed below, the following findings are made. 

 



 

8 
 

1. A written application was submitted and complete in all respects. 

 

2. The use, “Vehicle and Heavy Equipment Sales and Rentals”, for which the 

Special Use Permit is sought is in harmony with the area and is not 

substantially injurious to the value of properties in the general vicinity. 

This is based on sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the 

hearing which shows the following: 

a. The Staff Report states that this is a rural area with a mixed-use zoning 

designation.   As such, the proposed use is in harmony with the area. 

b. No expert testimony was provided, or report submitted by an appraiser 

regarding the value of properties. 

 

3. The use, “Vehicle and Heavy Equipment Sales and Rentals”, for which the 

Special Use Permit is sought, is in conformance with all special 

requirements applicable to this use. This is based on sworn testimony and 

evidence submitted during the hearing which shows the following: 

a. Section 5.2.3. of the Brunswick County Unified Development 

Ordinance Lists Vehicle and Heavy Equipment Sales and Rentals as 

a permissible use in the RR Zoning District if approved by the 

Board of Adjustment through the Special Use Permit process. 

b. Section 5.3.5.S. of the UDO outlines the additional criteria for 

Vehicle and Heavy Equipment Sales and Rentals if approved by the 

Board of Adjustment through the Special Use Permit process. 

c. The application packet submitted by the applicant was reviewed by the 

Zoning Administrator and found to meet all requirements and 

conditions of the ordinance, if all the conditions outlined in the Staff 

Report are met. 

d. The applicant testified that all standards required by the UDO would 

be met. 

 

4. The use, “Vehicle and Heavy Equipment Sales and Rentals”, for which the 

Special Use Permit is sought, if developed as proposed will not adversely 

affect the health and safety of the public.  This is based on sworn 

testimony and evidence submitted during the hearing which shows the 

following: 

a. The Staff Report addresses the minimum 12 standards for all 

commercial development.  The applicant has agreed to meet these 

standards. 

b. The applicant stated that it is his intent to limit the number of vehicles 

to 5-6 and operational hours from 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 Noon and 3:00 

p.m. – 6:00 p.m. 

 

5. The use, a “Vehicle and Heavy Equipment Sales and Rentals”, if 

developed as proposed will adequately address the twelve (12) review 

factors identified in Section 3.5.9.B. of the Brunswick County Unified 



 

9 
 

Development Ordinance.   This is based on sworn testimony and evidence 

submitted during the hearing which shows the following: 

a. The Board concurs with the staff report which outlines the twelve (12) 

review factors as stated in the Unified Development Ordinance, 

specifically:  

1. Circulation:  All access to the site will occur from Maco Road 

(NC 87) via an existing residential driveway developed within the 

parcel. As a condition of approval, the applicant must notify the 

North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT) of the 

proposed change of use and provide the Brunswick County 

Planning Department with documentation from NCDOT stating 

whether site access improvements are warranted.  Required 

improvements must be made prior to final zoning approval.   

2. Parking and Loading:  A minimum of one (1) standard and one 

(1) accessible parking space must be provided. 

3. Service Entrances and Areas:   All service vehicles will access 

the subject property from Maco Road, which is a state-maintained 

road.  

4. Lighting:  No outdoor lighting is proposed with this request.  Any 

new outdoor lighting must meet the lighting requirements stated 

in Section 6.9. “Outdoor Lighting” of the UDO prior to 

installation.   

5. Signs:  Any signage must meet the requirements of Article 8, 

Signs of the UDO prior to installation.  Signage is a separate 

permitting process.  

6. Utilities:  Public water and sewer are not available to this site. 

The existing septic and well must be rechecked to ascertain its 

utilization for the vehicle sales office and the home. 

7. Open Space:  There are no separate open space requirements for 

this use.  

8. Environmental Protection:  The applicant must meet all 

applicable Federal, State and Local Government requirements. 

9. Screening, Buffering and Landscaping:   Project boundary 

buffers are required.  RR Zoning to RR Zoning Undeveloped will 

require a 10’ deep buffer with 0.2 visual opacity.  RR Zoning to 

RR Zoning Existing Residentially Developed will require a buffer 

with 0.4 visual opacity, which will be 20’ in depth, unless the 

depth is reduced by adding a six-foot fence or wall.  If the opacity 

requirement cannot be met with existing vegetation, plantings must 

be added to meet the opacity requirements.  The front yard will 

require a twenty-foot (20’) street yard with one (1) canopy tree or 

two (2) understory trees per one hundred linear feet (100’) of street 

frontage. Landscaping requirements per Section 5.3.5.S. of the 

UDO. 

10. Effect on Adjoining Property: The effect on adjoining property 

is minimal as two (2) parcels are residentially developed, which 



 

10 
 

will require a 20’ deep buffer planted at 0.4 visual opacity. The 

remaining parcels will require a minimum of a 10’ deep buffer 

planted at 0.2 visual opacity. 

11. Compatibility:  The proposed use is permissible in the RR 

Zoning District with Special Use Permit approval by the Board of 

Adjustment.   

12. Impacts on Military Installations:  The proposed Special Use is 

within five (5) miles of a military installation.  
 

b. Additional Approval Criteria (Section 5.3.5.S.): Vehicle and Heavy 

Equipment Sales and Rentals shall be permitted in accordance with 

the use tables in Section 5.2, subject to the following: 

 

1. Automobile and light truck sales and rentals are permitted as an 

Accessory Use to a Vehicle Wrecking, Junk or Salvage Yard only 

in the I-G Zoning District. N/A 

2. Junked or inoperable vehicles/heavy equipment shall not be on the 

premises unless such is within an enclosed building or screened 

area. Applicant is aware of this requirement. 

3. Vehicle or equipment repairs made on-site shall be subject to the 

same restrictions under Section 5.3.5.T, Vehicle Service and 

Garage. N/A- Vehicle Sales only. 

4. Adequate on-site area shall exist for the loading and unloading of 

vehicles from car carriers to ensure that no such loading or 

unloading occurs in any public right of way. Applicant to denote 

proposed area on the site plan. 

5. Vehicle sales, leasing, and rental facilities shall meet the following 

landscaping standards rather than those of Section 6.12.10, 

Vehicular Use Area Landscaping:  

i. The provisions of Section 6.22, Outdoor Display, shall not 

apply. Applicant is aware of this issue. 

ii. Vehicles may not be in any required yard or buffer area, even 

for temporary display purposes. Applicant is aware of this 

requirement. 

iii. Permanent vehicle sales areas may not be located in any 

required parking spaces. Applicant is aware of this 

requirement. 

iv. Vehicle sales or display areas may not block sidewalks or 

parking areas and may not impede vehicular or pedestrian 

traffic. Applicant is aware of this requirement. 

v. Adequate lighting shall be provided in conformance with 

Section 6.9, Outdoor Lighting. Applicant is aware of this 

requirement. 

6. Aircraft and boat sales and rentals are permitted as an Accessory 

Use to an aircraft or boat manufacturing facility only in the I-G 

Zoning District. N/A 

 



 

11 
 

c. Mr. Goulet stated that he is aware of the requirements and agreed to 

comply with all conditions of the permit. 

 

Ms. McCarthy made a motion to grant the Special Use Permit because the 

proposed use if developed as proposed, and subject to the conditions imposed 

below: 

 

a) will be in harmony with the area and not substantially injurious to the 

value of properties in the general vicinity, 

b) will be in conformance with all special requirements applicable to the 

use, 

c) will not adversely affect the health and safety of the public, and 

d) will adequately address the twelve (12) review factors identified in 

Section 3.5.9.B. of the Brunswick County Unified Development 

Ordinance with the following conditions: 

 

1. The development of the parcel shall comply with all regulations as 

specified in the Brunswick County Unified Development 

Ordinance (UDO).  

2. The development shall proceed in conformity with all amended 

plans and design features submitted as part of the special use 

application and kept on file by the Brunswick County Planning 

Department. 

3. The applicant must legally combine Tax Parcels 02700032 & 

02700033 in the manner denoted on the site plan.   

4. Identify on the Site Plan Maco Road and NC 87. 

5. The applicant must notify the North Carolina Department of 

Transportation (NCDOT) of the proposed change of use and 

provide the Brunswick County Planning Department with 

documentation from NCDOT stating whether site access 

improvements are warranted.  Required improvements must be 

made prior to final zoning approval.  

6. Provide Grading and Stormwater Plans for this project. In addition, 

revise the Site Plan to be consistent with the comments outlined in 

the July 31, 2019 email, including the height of the proposed 

structure, all setback requirements, traffic and circulation 

information, refuse collection location, type of fencing, height of 

fence and diagram of fence. 

7. Provide a Landscaping Plan that addresses the requirements for 

periphery buffers; front yard buffers; parking lots and for “Vehicle 

and Heavy Equipment Sales and Rentals” as well as requirements 

for landscaping outlined in Section 6.12.10. 

8. Provide Building Facade drawings consistent with Section 6.8 of 

the UDO. 

9. Address Outdoor Lighting per Section 6.9. of the UDO. 



 

12 
 

10. The applicant must request a visual inspection of the site prior to 

the commencement of “Vehicle and Heavy Equipment Sales and 

Rentals” activities to ensure all requirements have been met. 

11. If the specified conditions addressed in this special use permit are 

violated, the permit shall be revoked, and the use will no longer be 

allowed.  Only by reapplying to the Board of Adjustment for 

another special use permit and receiving their approval can the use 

be again permitted. 

 

The motion was seconded by Ms. Shiflet and unanimously carried. Approval 

of this permit confers upon the right to develop with the type and intensity of 

use as herein described and as shown on the approved site plan. Vested rights 

are hereby established pursuant to Section 9.5. of the Brunswick County 

Unified Development Ordinance. 

 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS. 

 

A) 19-12A:  Appeal of Decision 

Applicant: James R. Todd/Brunswick Plantation Property Owners 

Association  

Location:  252 S. Middleton Drive, Calabash, NC 28467 

 Tax Parcel 210IA058 

 Applicant is appealing an interpretation of the Brunswick 

County Unified Development Ordinance that Caw Caw 

Land Corporation can operate a model home, subject to the 

conditions and requirements outlined in the June 25, 2019 

letter to Caw Caw Land Corporation. 

 

Ms. Bunch addressed the Board. Ms. Bunch read the Staff Report (attached). 

Ms. Bunch identified the subject property and surrounding properties on a 

visual map.  

 

Mr. Jon Trainor, representing James A. Todd, addressed the board. Mr. 

Trainor stated that he is the President of the Board of Directors for the 

Brunswick Plantation Property Owners Association as well as a resident of the 

community for 6 years. Mr. Trainor stated that he is seeking clarification on 

the definition of a model home. Mr. Trainor continued that he has experience 

with real estate as his wife has been a real estate agent for twenty-two years. 

Mr. Trainor stated that a model home is supposed to be a show place that is 

well equipped. Mr. Trainor stated that a model home is not sales office for 

conducting the sale of other properties. 

 

Mr. Trainor read the first paragraph from the June 25, 2019 letter from 

Brunswick County Zoning Administrator Helen Bunch to Caw Caw Land 

Corporation. Mr. Trainor then stated that the existing structure is not a model 

home, but is a custom-built home that was built approximately four and a half 



 

13 
 

(4.5) years ago by an outside builder. Mr. Trainor continued that the home has 

had two (2) previous owners. Mr. Trainor added that the Caw Caw Land 

Corporation does not have a building company of its own. Mr. Trainor 

continued that there are five (5) custom home companies approved for 

Brunswick Plantation and they do not include Caw Caw Land Corporation. 

 

Mr. Trainor stated that the location is being used to sell vacant lots owned by 

Caw Caw Land Corporation. Mr. Trainor stated that early on the rooms of the 

home were converted into offices including desks and computers. Mr. Trainor 

stated that if it was a model home this would not have occurred. Mr. Trainor 

added that the garage has been converted into a conference room. Mr. Trainor 

stated that kitchen is the only part of the home that has been untouched. Mr. 

Trainor continued that the space is being used as the corporate office for Caw 

Caw Land Corporation. 

 

Mr. Trainor stated that traffic was beginning to be an issue as cars have been 

parking on private lots as well as multiple cars being parked in the driveway. 

Mr. Trainor added that photographs of these conditions have been provided to 

the Brunswick County Planning Department. 

 

Mr. Trainor stated that two members of the Board of Directors for Brunswick 

Plantation Property Owners Association met with the Brunswick County 

Planning Department to outline their concerns with the letter from the County 

addressed to Caw Caw Land Corporation on June 25th, 2019. Mr. Trainor 

stated that he was told by the Brunswick County Planning Department that 

there is not currently a definition of a model home in the Unified 

Development Ordinance (UDO). Mr. Trainor added that there is a definition 

for sales and commercial use.  

 

Mr. Trainor stated that the approval of eight (8) parking spaces in the rear of 

the building did not constitute what is normally a feature of a residential 

home. Mr. Trainor continued that this would add an additional driveway on 

South Middleton Road, which is the busiest road within the community. Mr. 

Trainor added that a nearly six-foot by six-foot sign was erected in the front of 

the building that says “Sales Model”. Mr. Trainor continued that it is not a 

model home because the model is not available. 

 

Mr. Trainor said that the letter also stated that the model home could have two 

full-time employees. Mr. Trainor continued that the employees would require 

two vehicles. Mr. Trainor stated that they could use the garage for parking and 

make ample parking for visitors and clients available in the driveway. 

 

Mr. Trainor stated that Brunswick Plantation’s architectural standards do not 

permit six-foot fencing anywhere within the community. Mr. Trainor stated 

that the County’s letter required six-foot fencing.  Mr. Trainor stated that the 

letter also required an impervious service for the parking lot. Mr. Trainor 



 

14 
 

continued that he was told by Caw Caw Land Corporation that they would be 

building a gravel lot rather than concrete. Mr. Trainor stated that gravel is not 

permitted within the community. 

 

Mr. Trainor summarized that Caw Caw Land Corporation does not build 

homes and did not build this home. Mr. Trainor continued that Brunswick 

Plantation’s Architectural Standards Committee does not agree with several of 

the Planning Department’s conditions.  Mr. Trainor stated that Caw Caw Land 

Corporation had over one year since they were notified to vacate the 

“Plantation House” to move to a different location. Mr. Trainor continued that 

the home at 252 South Middleton Drive was chosen for the new location. Mr. 

Trainor added that there were several options within Caw Caw Land 

Corporation’s ownership that are considered commercial properties. However, 

Caw Caw Land Corporation decided to occupy space within the residential 

portion of the community. Mr. Trainor continued that residents occupying 

neighboring homes are concerned with negative impacts on traffic and 

property values associated with the use of a sales office at the site. Mr. Trainor 

restated that the site is currently being used by Caw Caw Land Corporation as 

their corporate office. Mr. Trainor stated that he is requesting a reversal of the 

letter establishing a conditional use issued by the Planning Department as well 

as an order for Caw Caw Land Corporation to cease and desist. Mr. Trainor 

continued that several attempts have been made on behalf of the community to 

mitigate some of the issues identified in the June 25th, 2019 letter. Mr. Trainor 

added that changes were submitted to the Planning Department to amend the 

letter but was denied because the letter has been issued. Mr. Trainor stated 

that he was informed the issue would have to be brought to the Board of 

Adjustment. 

 

Ms. Shiflet asked what compromises were offered to Caw Caw Land 

Corporation. Mr. Trainor stated that the County offered to let them use the 

facility as a quasi-model home. Mr. Trainor continued that the POA tried to 

get the parking in the rear reduced to 5 parking spaces. Mr. Trainor that 

several neighbors and Board members were not in agreement with the 

compromise. Mr. Trainor continued that an additional compromise was 

requested for Caw Caw Land Corporation to use a smaller temporary sign 

when staff is on duty or during operating hours. Mr Trainor stated that Caw 

Caw Land Corporation said they would reduce the sign by twenty percent, but 

an agreement was not reached. Mr. Trainor added that the home is located at 

the busiest corner of the community in terms of traffic. Mr. Trainor continued 

that he acknowledges that Caw Caw Land Corporation needs a sales office, 

but the community does not want it at that location.  Mr. Trainor added that 

Caw Caw Land Corporation did not bring plans for the site to the Board of 

Directors of Brunswick Plantation.  

 

Ms. Shiflet asked if as a property owner Caw Caw Land Corporation is a 

member of the neighborhood association. Mr. Trainor responded yes. Mr. 



 

15 
 

Trainor continued that Caw Caw Land Corporation has done a wonderful job 

developing the community. However, the issue is that the use of the site as a 

sales office is negatively impacting the neighboring properties. Mr. Trainor 

continued that he is not disputing the right of Caw Caw Land Corporation to 

have a sales office within the community. Mr. Trainor stated that there is a 

need for a sales office within the community. Mr. Trainor added that there are 

nearly 3,000 residents within the community. 

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if the developer is still in control of the Homeowners 

Association.  Mr. Trainor stated that the HOA and POA maintain the 

properties within the community. Ms. McCarthy asked if everyone in the 

community has a vote. Mr. Trainor responded yes. 

 

Ms. Ward asked if Brunswick Plantation has a clubhouse that could be used 

for the sales office. Mr. Trainor responded that the clubhouse was previously 

used on a temporary basis for Caw Caw Land Corporation’s sales office, 

however in April of 2017 the clubhouse was sold to a private company and 

they were notified to vacate the property within one year.  

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if Brunswick Plantation Property Owners Association is 

appealing the Planning Department’s determination to allow the use of a 

model home at the site but have attempted to reach a compromise with Caw 

Caw Land Corporation. Mr. Trainor stated that, yes, that is what the 

Brunswick Plantain POA is appealing and that they attempted to mitigate the 

concerns with conditions related to the maintaining the residential character of 

the site. Ms. McCarthy asked is Mr. Trainor is maintaining that the site is 

being used as a sales office. Mr. Trainor responded that the site is being used 

as a sales office. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked which part of the Planning Department’s decision is 

being disagreed with.  Mr. Trainor responded that the Property Owners 

Association is in disagreement with the permission given to Caw Caw Land 

Corporation to operate a model home within the community. Mr. Trainor 

continued that the site is being used as a sales office and not a model home. 

Mr. Trainor added that based on the June 25th, 2019 letter the site would be 

commercial. Mr. Trainor continued that he would like Brunswick County 

Planning to alter the letter to remove the additional parking as well as remove 

the permanent signage in the front of the building. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked why the parking lot should not be allowed. Mr. Trainor 

responded that the current driveway can accommodate over 4 vehicles. Mr. 

Trainor added that the garage was converted to a conference room and has 

reduced parking availability. Mr. Trainor continued that the Brunswick 

County Planning Department provided that a sales office is considered a 

commercial business and would not be approved in a residential community. 

 



 

16 
 

Ms. Shiflet asked if the Property Owners Association would accept the use of 

a model home at that site.  Mr. Trainor responded that it would be acceptable 

if the site were used as a model home. Mr. Trainor continued that one of the 

concerns is the additional parking lot on the site. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked for clarification as to what part of the June 25th, 2019 

letter is being disagreed with. Mr. Trainor responded that the second parking 

lot is not necessary for a model home. Mr. Williamson asked Mr. Trainor if he 

thinks the parking lot is allowed by the Brunswick County Unified 

Development Ordinance. Mr. Trainor responded that the letter indicated that it 

was allowed at the site and that he is unclear what the UDO allows at the site. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked what are the other disagreements. Mr. Trainor added 

that the permanent 6 foot by 6 foot sign in the front of the property is 

unappealing and does not maintain the residential character of the 

neighborhood. Mr. Trainor added that the site is not being used as a model 

home. Mr. Williamson stated that he has visited the site and the home was 

being used as a sales office. 

 

Mr. Batton stated that the appeal is not regarding how the site was being used 

previously or how the site is being used currently. Mr. Batton continued that 

the appeal is concerning the conditions established by Brunswick County 

Planning staff associated with the use of a model home at the site. Mr. Batton 

clarified that staff has not allowed a sales office at the site. 

 

Mr. Trainor stated that the site is not being used as a model home. Mr. 

Williamson stated that the Board of Adjustment is here to decide why the site 

shouldn’t be used as a model home. Mr. Trainor reiterated that the site is not 

being used as a model home.  Mr. Trainor that the site is being used as a 

commercial business to sell properties.  

 

Ms. Ward asked if the POA guidelines establish that permanent signs are not 

allowed. Mr. Trainor stated that is correct, but Brunswick County Planning 

Department has said they can have one on the site.  Mr. Trainor continued that 

they have requested that a temporary sign be used on the site during business 

hours. Mr. Trainor stated that he hopes that the architectural standards of the 

community supersede the County’s requirements. 

 

Mr. Batton stated that the Brunswick County Unified Development Ordinance 

does not acknowledge restrictive covenants. Mr. Batton added that restrictive 

covenants are a private and civil matter between property owners. Mr. Batton 

continued that restrictive covenants are not to be taken into consideration. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked if the case goes to court, would it be likely that the 

court would uphold the deed restrictions. Mr. Batton stated that he cannot say 

but the court would rely on the restrictive covenants. Mr. Batton added that 



 

17 
 

just because the UDO allows something does not mean that the restrictive 

covenants also have to allow it. Mr. Batton reiterated that Brunswick County 

does not get involved with matters related to restrictive covenants. 

 

Mr. Trainor asked who would monitor the use of the building if the letter of 

June 25th, 2019 is approved. Mr. Trainor added that he does not need an 

answer to the question. 

 

Mr. William Gerber addressed the Board. Mr. Gerber read definitions of the 

term model home from various sources. Mr. Gerber stated that he has 

experience building condominiums in New Jersey. Mr. Gerber continued that 

when he would build condominiums, he would have a model unit fully 

furnished for display purposes. Mr. Gerber added that typically, a builder 

builds the model home. Mr. Gerber continued that Caw Caw Land 

Corporation is not building homes. Mr. Gerber stated that the site would not 

be able to be used for a tour because the site is being used as a sales office. 

 

Ms. Marian Cionek addressed the Board. Ms. Cionek asked for clarification 

regarding the role of the Board of Adjustment. Ms. Cionek asked if it is the 

responsibility of the Board of Adjustment to determine if a model home or 

commercial sales office can be allowed in a residential area. Mr. Williamson 

responded that those determinations are made by the Brunswick County 

Unified Development Ordinance. Mr. Williamson added that it is a matter of 

interpretation of the Ordinance. Mr. Williamson continued that the Brunswick 

County Planning staff’s determination that a model home as defined in the 

Letter to Caw Caw Land Corporation would be allowed was a result of the 

interpretation of the Ordinance. 

 

Ms. Cionek stated that the biggest concern of the community is that the site is 

being used as a sales office. Ms. Cionek continued that traffic generated with 

the site as well the large signage on the site are associated concerns. 

 

Inga Alston addressed the board. Ms. Alston stated that she is in opposition of 

the June 25th, 2019 letter issued by the Brunswick County Planning 

Department. Ms. Alston continued that site appears to be a sales office rather 

than a model home. Ms. Alston asked if the meeting was previously cancelled. 

Ms. Shiflet responded that the case was continued. Ms. Alston stated that she 

is concerned that misinformation may have been provided about the date of 

the meeting. Ms. Alston added that she saw that the notice posted on the site 

was removed and put back multiple times. Ms. Alston continued that an 

additional concern is that the permittance of a sales office could mean that 

other businesses may be allowed within the community.  Ms. Alston asked 

what would prevent businesses from being established within homes. Mr. 

Williamson responded that the deed restrictions would prevent this. Ms. 

McCarthy added that zoning would prevent this as well. Mr. Williamson 

stated that a sales office is not allowed at the site. Ms. Alston asked if the 



 

18 
 

letter is saying that a sales office is allowed as long as they refer to the use as 

a model home. Mr. Williamson responded that is not the case. Mr. Williamson 

continued that the determination made by staff provided that the use of a 

model home is similar enough to a home to be allowed at the site, whereas the 

sales office is not allowed. Ms. Alston reiterated that the site appears to be 

currently used as a sales office. 

 

Mr. Williamson stated that Board is here to decide the appeal of the June 25th, 

2019 letter stating that a model home subject to conditions outlined.  Ms. 

McCarthy added that the Board is not here to decide what the site is currently 

being used for. Ms. Shiflet stated that it is up to Caw Caw Land Corporation 

to decide whether to abide by the conditions of the letter. Mr. Williamson 

clarified that the appeal is intended to reverse the determination that a model 

home is allowed on the site with the outlined conditions. 

 

Zoning Administrator Helen Bunch provided clarification about the meeting 

cancellation and sign being placed on the site and removed. Ms. Bunch stated 

that the meeting was not cancelled. Ms. Bunch clarified that a withdrawal by 

the applicant was not indicated. Mr. Batton asked if there was a case regarding 

this property that was previously withdrawn. Ms. Bunch responded that Caw 

Caw Land Corporation appealed the letter initially, in a separate case, and 

then withdrew the appeal. Then the Brunswick Plantation Property Owners 

Association filed an appeal. Ms. Bunch continued and stated that the sign was 

removed from the site prior to the arrival of Hurricane Dorian and was placed 

back on the site the first workday following Hurricane Dorian.  

 

Mr. Gary Brown addressed the Board. Mr. Brown asked if the appeal is to 

decide whether to allow the use of a model home based on the conditions 

provided in the June 25th, 2019 letter. Mr. Williamson responded yes. 

 

Mr. Brown asked if another use such as a sales office would be allowed at the 

site. Mr. Williamson responded that a sales office is not allowed at the site. 

Mr. Brown stated that Caw Caw Land Corporation Website refers to the site 

as the location of their sales office. Mr. Brown submitted evidence to the 

Board showing the website’s language. 

 

Mr. Brown stated that if the site was being used as a model home it would 

likely be accepted by the community. Mr. Brown continued that the site is 

being used as a sales office. Mr. Brown referred to the Brunswick County 

Unified Development Ordinance and provided that the use of a sales office at 

this site is prohibited.  

 

Mr. Williamson asked Ms. Bunch what would happen if the Brunswick 

County Planning Department found out that the site was being used a sales 

office after the issuance of the June 25th, 2019 letter. Ms. Bunch deferred to 

Mr. Batton, Assistant County Attorney. Mr. Batton stated that the Planning 



 

19 
 

Department may file a lawsuit seeking an injunction to prevent it from being 

used as a sales office. Bryan continued that as long as they are operating under 

the conditions of the letter it would be considered a model home. Mr. Batton 

continued that with the filing of the appeal the letter no longer the final 

determination. Mr. Batton added that at this point in time there is nothing for 

the County to enforce. 

 

Ms. Shiflet asked if Caw Caw Land Corporation was given a time period to 

comply with the letter and transition into a model home. Ms. Batton stated 

that Caw Caw Land Corporation was given thirty (30) days from July 24th. 

Mr. Batton added that the letter was appealed by the Brunswick Plantation 

POA on July 25th. 

 

Mr. Brown asked if Caw Caw Land Corporation says it is a model home and 

meets the conditions of the letter, would they be able to continue using the 

property as a sales office. Mr. Williamson responded that someone would 

have to file a complaint with the Planning Department.  

 

Mr. Brown stated that the Unified Development Ordinance does not allow 

commercial uses in residential areas. Mr. Williamson asked Ms. Bunch for 

clarification. Ms. Bunch clarified that it depends on the zoning district. Ms. 

Bunch continued that in this particular case the district does not generally 

allow commercial uses. Mr. Brown stated that home occupations are allowed, 

and that Mr. Mason could operate a sales office out of his home and still 

operate the model home. 

 

Mr. Batton stated that the primary purpose of the Board is to receive 

testimony and issue a decision. Mr. Batton continued that the Board should 

direct questions to the staff.  Mr. Batton stated that staff is able to offer 

testimony. 

 

Jon Trainor requested that the Board revoke the June 25th letter and start the 

process over. Mr. Williamson asked what the issue with the June 25th letter is.  

Mr. Trainor responded that the letter is voided because it’s a commercial 

property. Mr. Trainor stated that there should have been a public hearing for 

the change of use for the property. Ms. Shiflet asked if that would call for a 

public hearing. Mr. Batton responded that a public hearing would not be 

required. 

 

Mr. Lewis referred to Appendix A located within the meeting packet. Mr. 

Lewis stated that the issue is the use of a sales office and not the use of a 

model home. Mr. Lewis continued that the Brunswick Plantation Property 

Owners Association disagrees with some of the conditions of the letter 

provided by staff. Mr. Lewis continued that Appendix A should be voided 

because the argument is not against whether it is a model home but whether it 

is a sales office. 



 

20 
 

 

Matthew Nichols, Attorney representing Caw Caw Land Corporation, 

addressed the Board.  Mr. Nichols stated that nothing has been said to form 

the basis for the appeal of the June 25th letter. Mr. Nichols submitted a copy of 

the Master Declaration and Development Plan for Brunswick Plantation to the 

Board, dated 2015, as evidence. Mr. Nichols stated that to his understanding 

this document is current and provides the regulations for development within 

the community. He further explained that this document has been agreed upon 

by the parties of the Caw Caw Land Corporation and the Property Owners 

Association. Mr. Nichols pointed out Section 12 on page 35 and stated that the 

agreement indicates that Caw Caw Land Corporation as the declarant has the 

right to use dwelling units within the development as a sales office. Mr. 

Nichols clarified that this document is not an ordinance and is not binding on 

the County. Mr. Nichols continued that the Property Owners Association has 

agreed that Caw Caw Land Corporation can do what is stated in Section 12 of 

the Master Declaration and Development Plan For Brunswick Plantation. Mr. 

Nichols stated that the appellant does not have standing because they have 

agreed to Section 12 which allows a sales office within the community.  

 

Mason Anderson addressed the Board. Mr. Anderson stated that the 

development began in 1989. He continued that he has developed the 

community as it was originally designed. Mr. Anderson stated that his 

Attorney has provided a copy of the Master Declaration. Mr. Anderson added 

that he prepared the original document in 1990 and he included the language 

within Section 12 to allow the operation of sales offices or model homes 

within the community. Mr. Anderson continued that this agreement predated 

zoning regulations within Brunswick County in 1994. 

 

Mr. Anderson stated that he ran the community for nearly 20 years and has 

not had an issue previously. Mr. Anderson continued that he turned the 

development over to the Property Owners Association. Mr. Anderson stated 

that the locations of sales offices, construction offices, and model homes 

within the community have changed many times over the years. Mr. Anderson 

continued that when he purchased the property at 252 South Middleton, he 

was not under the understanding that he needed to gain permission from the 

County to operate a model home. Mr. Anderson further stated that he was 

within his rights to use the site as a model home.  

 

Mr. Nichols submitted an image of the sign on the site to the Board. Mr. 

Nichols stated that Mr. Trainor indicated that the sign was 6 by 6 feet in size. 

Mr. Nichols stated that the sign is not that large. 

 

Mr. Nichols stated that Mr. Anderson and Mr. Trainor have discussed 

reaching a compromise. Mr. Nichols continued that Caw Caw Land 

Corporation is willing to reduce the size of the sign as well as provide opaque 

landscaping rather than a fence.  Mr. Nichols added that Caw Caw Land 



 

21 
 

Corporation is willing to reduce the parking in the rear of the site to six (6) 

spaces rather than eight (8). Mr. Nichols stated that the decision determined 

by the Planning Department is fair and he reiterated that evidence has not 

been provided to support the appeal of the June 25th letter.  

 

Ms. Shiflet asked if there was any effort after the June 25th letter to comply 

with the conditions. Mr. Nichols responded that he understands that efforts to 

reach compliance were on hold once the letter was appealed. Mr. Nichols said 

that no improvements have been made and that Caw Caw Land Corporation is 

willing to come into compliance with the June 25th letter. 

 

Mr. Anderson stated that he made attempts to address the concerns of the 

Property Owners Association. Mr. Anderson stated he agreed to reduce the 

sign by twenty (20) percent. Mr. Anderson added that an agreement has not 

been reached. 

 

Mr. Trainor referred to Page 35, Article 15, of the Master Declaration and 

Development Plan for Brunswick Plantation. 

 

Ms. Alston stated that Mr. Nichols pointed Section 12 of the Master 

Declaration and Development Plan for Brunswick Plantation. Ms. Alston 

continued that a misinterpretation of this document was made by staff, based 

on the June 25th letter.  Mr. Williamson stated that the June 25th letter was not 

based on the interpretation of the Master Declaration and Development Plan 

for Brunswick Plantation. Mr. Williamson stated that the staff is only allowed 

to consider the Unified Development Ordinance. Mr. Batton clarified that the 

Master Declaration shall not be considered in the decision.  

 

Mr. Bunch stated that this situation began as a result of complaints that a 

commercial activity was taking place in a residential area. Ms. Bunch 

continued that the investigation included the establishment of a definition of a 

model home by Planning staff. Ms. Alston reiterated that the letter should be 

appealed. 

 

Mr. Lewis read an excerpt from the June 25th letter. The excerpt illustrated 

that Brunswick County does not allow a sales office as a commercial use but 

does allow a model home as a residential use. Mr. Lewis further clarified that 

Brunswick County has determined that a sales office is not allowed in that 

area and that a model home is allowed as a residential use. Mr. Lewis added 

that the Property Owners Association’s Attorney identified that the complaint 

was against a model home and not a sales office. 

 

Ms. Ward stated that the letter from the Property Owners Association also 

identifies traffic complaints and safety as an issue. 

 



 

22 
 

Mr. Trainor reiterated that the June 25th letter should be voided and that 

Brunswick Plantation should be able to control the development. Mr. Trainor 

stated that the community needs closure on the issue. 

 

Ms. Shiflet stated that complaints were received by Brunswick County 

regarding the use of the site.  

 

Ms. McCarthy asked if the applicant is allowed to withdraw the appeal. Mr. 

Batton responded that if the applicant withdraws the appeal, then the June 25th 

letter will stand. Mr. Batton asked Ms. Bunch if the intention of the June 25th 

letter was to allow what was currently in place to remain. Ms. Bunch 

responded no.  

 

Mr. Lewis stated that the staff’s decision determined that if the facility was 

operating a sales office it would be in violation of the Brunswick County 

Unified Development Ordinance and that if it was operating as a model home 

under the conditions of the June 25th letter it would be in compliance. 

 

Mr. Lewis asked who with Brunswick County would determine what the use 

is at the site. Mr. Batton stated that it would ultimately up to the Zoning 

Administrator. Mr. Batton restated information provided in the packet. Mr. 

Batton provided that Brunswick County does not define the term model home. 

Mr. Batton continued that a definition for model home is provided in the June 

25th letter and this definition is accompanied by conditions that must be met to 

operate a model home at the site.  Mr. Batton added that since the letter was 

appealed, the County does not have a mechanism with which to enforce the 

letter to make sure the property owner has begun to operate as a model home. 

 

Ms. McCarthy stated that the letter clearly states that a sales office is not 

allowed at the site. Ms. Ward reiterated that the letter makes this clear.  

 

Mr. Batton asked Ms. Bunch if changes to the property were required to come 

into compliance with the letter. Ms. Bunch responded yes. Mr. Lewis asked if 

these requirements were established to maintain the residential character of 

the property according to the letter. Ms. Bunch responded yes. 

 

Ms. Ward stated that it is her understanding that Caw Caw Land Corporation 

was given thirty days to comply with the June 25th letter. Ms. Ward continued 

that the letter was appealed and the thirty-day period was put on hold.  

 

Mr. Batton reiterated the timeline within the Staff Report regarding the July 

2019 section of timeline. 

 

Mr. Brown asked if the conditions were a result of conversation with staff or 

with negotiations with the property owner. Ms. Bunch responded that the 

conditions were a result of conversations with staff. Mr. Batton asked Ms. 



 

23 
 

Bunch if she received input from the property owner regarding what should be 

allowed at the property. Ms. Bunch responded that the property owner 

communicated what they thought should be allowed at the property. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked if there were negotiations between property owners and 

staff. Mr. Lewis responded that the Staff Report indicates that a “settlement” 

was proposed by Attorney Nichols. Mr. Lewis asked for clarification on the 

nature of the proposed settlement. 

 

Mr. Nichols responded that he does not recall the specifics terms. Mr. Nichols 

added that there were a lot of discussions about the appeal that was filed 

initially and later withdrawn. Mr. Nichols stated that there wasn’t a settlement 

and that the County issued the June 25th letter which his client appealed and 

later withdrew the appeal. Mr. Nichols continued that his client decided to 

come into compliance with the June 25th letter which was later appealed by 

the Brunswick Plantation Property Owners Association. 

 

Mr. Nichols reiterated that his client is willing to comply with Determination 

and associated conditions provided by the Zoning Administrator. Mr. Nichols 

continued that his client is willing to add or modify conditions of the letter 

which may include additional landscaping instead of the fence, reducing the 

size of the sign by twenty (20) percent, and reducing the size of the parking lot 

by two (2) parking spaces. 

 

Mr. Lewis reiterated that the June 25th letter was intended to maintain the 

residential character of the property. 

 

Mr. Williamson reiterated that the decision of the June 25th letter was made by 

staff. Mr. Williamson continued that his understanding is that there was a lot 

of communication during this process with the parties involved but no 

appeasement.  

 

Mr. Brown stated that he heard that there were conversations between the 

attorneys. Mr. Williamson asked Mr. Batton if there were discussions between 

attorneys. Mr. Batton referred to the Staff Report which reflects that the he 

was involved in conversations. 

 

Mr. Brown asked for clarification on the nature of the appeal. Mr. Batton 

responded that the appeal is twofold. Mr. Batton stated the first is the question 

or whether a model home is allowed in a residential area. Mr. Batton 

continued that the second question is does the board believe or wish to change 

the conditions set by Ms. Bunch under which someone may operate a model 

home. 

 

Mr. Brown stated that he agrees that a model home is allowed in a residential 

area. Mr. Brown asked if the conditions attached to the June 25th letter are 



 

24 
 

relevant to a model home in a residential area or are the conditions more like 

what is found associated with a typical real estate sales office. Mr. Batton 

responded that the appeal was filed to convince the Board that the conditions 

were not appropriate for a model home. 

 

Mr. Brown asked how many conditions were included in the June 25th letter. 

Mr. Lewis responded that there are eleven (11) conditions. 

 

Mr. Brian McLaughlin addressed the Board. Mr. McLaughlin stated that there 

appears to be a lack of communication. Mr. McLaughlin added that he wants 

Brunswick County, the Board and the Community to have a forward-looking 

approach to resolve the conflict. Mr. Williamson stated that the Board can 

consider modifying the conditions in the Planning Department’s decision. 

 

Mr. Lewis asked Mr. Trainor if he read the June 25th letter. Mr. Trainor 

responded yes and added that he met with Ms. Bunch and the Assistant 

County Attorney. Mr. Trainor continued that he was told that his best option 

was to appeal the June 25th letter.  Mr. Trainor stated that he identified the 

areas of the June 25th letter that were clearly in violation of Brunswick 

Plantation’s architectural standards. Mr. Trainor continued that he is angry 

that staff may determine what a model home is without legal standing. Mr. 

Trainor added that he has seen communities that have model homes that are 

clearly model homes. 

 

Mr. Lewis stated that the Planning Board is responsible for establishing 

definitions within the Unified Development Ordinance. Mr. Lewis continued 

that after this meeting it will be likely that the Planning Board will attempt to 

define the term.  

 

Mr. Trainor reiterated the three areas of the June 25th letter that are the most 

egregious to the community include the signage on the property, the parking 

lot, and the fence. Mr. Trainor continued that he met with Caw Caw Land 

Corporation but did not reach an agreement.   

 

Ms. Joan Tomasello addressed the Board. Ms. Tomasello asked how parking 

will be accommodated in the rear of the property. Mr. Williamson asked Ms. 

Bunch if there enough room on the lot for the prescribed parking lot. Ms. 

Bunch responded that she has not received a final drawing of the site plan, but 

the preliminary drawing indicates that is adequate space. Ms. Bunch continued 

that the applicant is aware they must meet the requirements of the ordinance 

regarding how the development of a parking lot at the site shall occur.  

 

Ms. Bunch stated that Caw Caw Land Corporation received guidelines for 

how the parking lot must be developed at the site in terms of the requirements 

of the Ordinance. 

 



 

25 
 

Ms. Tomasello asked if there is adequate room to access the site at the rear of 

the site. Ms. Bunch responded that Caw Caw Land Corporation was given the 

required dimensions for the parking lot, but a final site plan has not been 

approved. Ms. Tomasello asked if there was a problem with seeing if they are 

complying with the conditions of the June 25th letter. Ms. Bunch responded 

that Caw Caw Land Corporation has not reached that point. 

 

Ms. Tomasello asked if impervious restrictions were considered. Ms. Bunch 

responded that they have not reached that point. Ms. Bunch reiterated that no 

site plan for the property has been approved and added that the required 

conditions and improvements were provided to Caw Caw Land Corporation 

for the use of a model home at the site. 

 

Ms. Tomasello asked if Caw Caw Land Corporation has agreed to use the site 

as a model home and to no longer use the site as a sales office. Ms. Bunch 

responded that the use must be a model home. 

 

Mr. Nichols stated that his client is willing to comply with the terms of the 

June 25th letter. Mr. Nichols added that his client is willing to agree to a more 

acceptable condition related to the existing signage. Mr. Nichols continued 

that his client is willing to remove the permanent sign and use a single 

portable sign for regular business hours only. Mr. Nichols stated that they 

have addressed the initial concern of on-street parking by agreeing to parking 

in the rear of the property as well as limit the parking to six (6) spaces. Mr. 

Nichols continued that the additional concern of the fence can be addressed by 

his client agreeing to provide opaque landscaping if allowed.  

 

Mr. Nichols stated that there has been discussion about having a turn around 

in the front driveway so that cars are not required to reverse out of the 

driveway onto North Middleton Drive. Mr. Nichols added that this would 

address safety concerns at the site in terms of parking and traffic. Mr. Nichols 

stated that he understands that this option is not allowed but his client would 

like to request that the Board allow the current driveway to be widened to 

allow cars to enter and exit in a forward manner. 

 

Ms. Tomasello stated that it seems that Caw Caw Land Corporation has not 

agreed that it will no longer be a sales office but rather they are agreeing to 

meet the conditions of the letter and continue the use of a sales office. 

 

Mr. Williamson asked if it would help to accept a sales model on the site if the 

parking lot was reduced in size. Ms. Tomasello stated that there are children 

who live at the adjacent property in the rear and added that there is a safety 

concern with the parking lot. 

 

Mr. Brown asked the Board to consider if they have been to a model home 

that has a six (6) foot privacy fence. Mr. Brown continued and asked why 



 

26 
 

there would be parking for eight (8) vehicles for a model home. Mr. Brown 

continued and asked if anyone has asked Caw Caw Land Corporation where 

their sales staff will be located.  

 

Mr. Williamson clarified that the role of the Board of Adjustment is to 

interpret the Ordinance and not to enforce the Ordinance. Mr. Brown asked 

where the sales staff will be located. Mr. Williamson responded that 

information is irrelevant. 

 

Mr. Lewis stated that if Caw Caw Land Corporation was to locate staff at 

another site it would not be up to the Board to determine where that location 

would be. Mr. Lewis continued that if they’re located within an area that was 

not allowed then complaints can lead to an investigation by staff. 

 

Mr. Lewis asked if six (6) foot fences are not allowed in Brunswick Plantation 

based on the restrictive covenants. Mr. Trainor confirmed that is correct. Mr. 

Lewis asked what size of fence is allowed. Mr. Trainor responded that four (4) 

foot fences are allowed. Mr. Lewis asked if it would be possible to allow a 

four (4) foot fence with landscaping to maintain the residential character. Mr. 

Trainor stated that six (6) foot fences are not allowed within the community.  

 

Mr. Lewis stated that it was mentioned that children live next door to the 

property. Mr. Lewis continued that children can get through shrubbery but 

will have difficulty getting around a six (6) foot fence. 

 

Mr. Anderson explained that the site will be used for a model home. Mr. 

Anderson continued that the purpose of a model home is to show the contract 

and use the space to write the contract. Mr. Anderson continued his company 

has many properties for sale within the community and that the purpose of the 

model home is to help sell the properties. Mr. Anderson stated that he agreed 

to the portable sign and has seen signs similar to the current sign in similar 

communities within the area. Mr. Nichols submitted a photograph that showed 

a site with a large sign advertising a sales office in a residential area.  

 

Mr. Anderson stated that he has worked to resolve this matter. Mr. Anderson 

stated that he has agreed to comply with the conditions of the June 25th letter 

with the exception of the items that they are asking the Board to consider. Mr. 

Anderston continued that he intends to use the site as a model home. Mr. 

Anderson continued that it is very common in similar communities to have 

model homes with sales agents on staff. 

 

Mr. Gerber asked Ms. Bunch if staff told her the site was used as a sales office 

would she have written a different letter. Mr. Williamson asked if the site was 

inspected after the complaint was made. Ms. Bunch responded that they were 

made aware of the complaint and did not go inside of the site. Mr. Williamson 

asked Ms. Bunch if when she wrote the letter was it her opinion that the site 



 

27 
 

was being used as a sales office or a model home. Ms. Bunch responded that 

she did not know at that point in time. Ms. Bunch clarified that the strategy 

was define a “model home” because that is what would be allowed. 

 

Mr. Batton asked Ms. Bunch based on the use she was informed of, is the 

current and previous use of the site in compliance with the definition of a 

“model home”. Ms. Bunch responded no. Mr. Batton asked what question the 

letter is answering. Ms. Bunch responded that the letter is answering the 

question of what a “model home” is. Ms. Bunch clarified that staff defined the 

term “model home”. 

 

Mr. Gerber asked if the letter defines the term model home or what a model 

home should do to protect the neighborhood. Ms. Bunch responded that the 

letter defined what the staff’s interpretation of a what is considered a model 

home.  Mr. Williamson referred to the staff Report and stated that 

correspondence was sent to Mr. Anderson on March 15th, 2019 that it is the 

staff’s interpretation that this location use is a sales office as opposed to a 

model home.  

 

Mr. Gerber reiterated that the site is being used a sales office. Ms. McCarthy 

stated that the Board is here to decide the appeal of the June 25th, 2019 letter. 

Ms. McCarthy clarified that the hearing is not intended to decide how to site is 

currently being used. 

 

Mr. Gerber stated that the current driveway at the site accommodates six to 

seven cars on a regular basis. Mr. Gerber continued that the June 25th letter 

allows two (2) full time staff members on site. Mr. Gerber stated that Mr. 

Anderson is at the site everyday and that would mean one additional staff 

member would be allowed. Mr. Gerber asked who will monitor the use at the 

site.  Mr. Lewis stated that Brunswick County does not have the staff or funds 

to make sure people are constantly complying with the ordinance in the 

unincorporated areas of Brunswick County. Mr. Lewis stated that the Board of 

Directors for Brunswick Plantation made the appeal and they should be 

communicated with regarding the case.  Mr. Lewis continued that if the 

community forces a decision tonight then it is unclear what decision would be 

made. 

 

Mr. Lewis stated that he would personally like to see a site plan that shows 

how the residential character will be maintained. Mr. Lewis continued that 

Ms. Bunch indicated that two (2) full time employees will be able to be on site 

during business hours with additional employees being on site intermittently. 

Mr. Lewis continued that the Board wants to look after the interests of the 

community as well as the interest of the developer.  

 

Mr. Trainor stated that he hopes that the Board does not make a decision 

tonight. Mr. Trainor continued that the Board should take time to think about 



 

28 
 

the decision. Mr. Trainor asked the community members to refrain from 

providing additional comments. 

 

Mr. Nichols stated that they are able to answer any questions that the Board 

has. Mr. Nichols continued that his client is willing to comply with the letter 

as well as extra conditions. Mr. Nichols stated that his client has done a nice 

job developing the community and does not want to do anything to hurt the 

community. Mr. Nichols reiterated that they are willing to comply. Mr. 

Nichols stated that he does not think that the comments provided tonight do 

not support the reversal or voidance of the June 25th, 2019 letter and that the 

board should affirm the determination made by the Zoning Administrator. 

 

Ms. McCarthy made a motion to table the case until a special meeting date on 

October 17th at 6:00 P.M. The motion was seconded by Ms. Shiflet and 

unanimously carried. 

 

Mr. Batton clarified that the special meeting date would be held for the 

deliberation and decision of the case. Mr. Batton added that the public hearing 

portion has been closed and may be reopened. 

 

Mr. Batton stated to the Board that members may not be able to discuss the 

case with one another or anyone else and that if any member visits the site 

then that visit should be disclosed and discussed with the other members at the 

October 17th, 2019 meeting. 

 

 

IX. STAFF REPORT. 

 

There was none. 

 

X. ADJOURNMENT. 

 

With no further business, Ms. Shiflet made a motion to adjourn. The motion was 

seconded by Ms. McCarthy and unanimously carried.  


